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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)
W.A. MONCRIEF, Jr., )
950 Commerce Street )
Fort Worth, Texas 76102, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
V. )
)
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, )
1849 C Street, NW ) Case No.
Washington, D.C. 20240; )
)
JAMIE E. CONNELL, )
State Director )
Montana Dakotas Office, )
Bureau of Land Management )
5001 Southgate Drive )
Billings, MT 59101, )
)
Defendants. )
)
COMPLAINT

1. Plaintiff W.A. Moncrief, Jr., by and through its@atneys Crowell & Moring,
LLP, respectfully file this Complaint challenginiget wrongful cancellation by the U.S.
Department of the Interior (“DOI”) on January 1@1Z, of Plaintiff's federal oil and gas Lease
No. MTM-53320 (hereinafter the “Moncrief Lease”) faderal lands in the Lewis and Clark
National Forest in the State of Montana.

INTRODUCTION

2. Plaintiff W.A. Moncrief, Jr. (“Moncrief”) brings tis action to challenge the
DOI's sudden cancellation of a federal oil and lgase more than 35 years after its issuance by

the DOI's Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”). Owbree decades have elapsed since the
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U.S. Forest Service (“Forest Service”) first penfied an Environmental Assessment under the
National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), 42 UG. § 4321et seq. approving the leasing

by the BLM of federal lands to Moncrief’s predeaasis interest for oil and gas exploration and
development purposes.

3. DOl and BLM recently reversed their long-standimgiion and voided
Moncrief’'s oil and gas lease on the theory thatRbeest Service’s environmental review 35
years ago purportedly failed to adequately evaltt@eMoncrief Lease’s impact on the Blackfeet
Tribe’s cultural resources and interests in tha@.alastead of giving Moncrief an opportunity to
contest the lease cancellation and protect itsgutgpights, the DOI issued a decision, dated
January 6, 2017, through a press release on Jah0a2P17 (“Notice of Lease Cancellation”),
terminating the Moncrief Lease effective immediatelten days before the end of the Obama
Administration.

4, The Notice of Lease Cancellation ignores basicsfalthere is a prior history of
oil and gas drilling and related exploration a¢ies on the actual Moncrief Lease area dating
back to the early 1960s. While the DOI now asgédsthe Moncrief Lease is part of a newly
defined “traditional cultural district” of the Blateet Tribe and should not be developed, the
Blackfeet Tribe itself supported oil and gas depaient in this specific area in the Lewis and
Clark National Forest in the 1980s. Further, in£200e Forest Service approved of a nearby
natural gas pipeline constructed on adjacent Nakibarest lands which is also within the newly
defined “traditional cultural district.” Ironicallythe Notice of Lease Cancellation emphasizes the
importance of stakeholder input in making fedesald management decisions, but the DOI
failed to provide Moncrief with any advance writteotice of the grounds for the DOI's

impending decision to terminate the oil and gasdea
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5. The Mineral Leasing Act (“MLA”), 30 U.S.C. 8§ 1&it seq.does not vest the
Interior Secretary with the authority to adminisitraly cancel the Moncrief Lease, and its
arrogation of that power to itself violates theipl@nguage of the statute, which only permits
the Secretary to administratively cancel a leaieefieaseholder has breached the terms of the
lease. 30 U.S.C. § 188(b). Where, as here, no determination is made, the Secretary may
only seek to terminate a lease pursuant to a idicoceeding.ld. at § 188(a). In its haste to
cancel the Moncrief Lease, the Secretary also gghdoncrief’s status as a bona fide purchaser.
The MLA and its implementing regulations protechadide purchasers, like Moncrief, from
clouds to title that predate their interest in pineperty. 30 U.S.C. § 184(h)(2); 43 C.F.R.

§ 3108.4. In this instance, the statutory protecpicevents DOI from cancelling the Moncrief
Lease.

6. DOlI’s failure to provide Moncrief with written nat and an opportunity to
contest the cancellation of the Moncrief Leaseated the Administrative Procedure Act
(“APA”), 5 U.S.C. 88 701-706, which requires agemcyion to be based on reasoned decision-
making, and deprived Moncrief of due process utigeiFifth Amendment of the U. S.
Constitution. As a result, DOI relied on an incdete record which prejudiced Moncrief and
resulted in the unilateral and wrongful terminatairMoncrief’'s vested real property interest.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuart8 U.S.C. § 1331, because
this case arises under the APA, 5 U.S.C. 88 701106 the MLA.

8. Venue is proper in the U. S. District Court for District of Columbia under 28
U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1) becausater alia, Defendant The U.S. Interior Department headqtgrte
are located in this judicial district, and the d&mn to issue the Notice of Lease Cancellation was

made by DOI officials located here.



Case 1:17-cv-00609-RJL Document 1 Filed 04/05/17 Page 4 of 24

PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Moncrief is a sole proprietorship headdeeed in Fort Worth, Texas.
The company was founded by the late W.A. “Monty’mddef in 1929, one of the early oil and
gas wildcatters in the State. In the decades sinbas grown into one of the largest family-
owned oil and gas businesses in the United Statesoperations and employees in Wyoming,
Texas, Colorado, New Mexico, Oklahoma, ArkansastiNDakota, Louisiana, Florida,
Mississippi, and the Gulf of Mexico. Moncrief owhBLM Oil and Gas Lease Number
MTM53320 (the “Moncrief Lease”) in northwestern Mana on January 6, 2017, when the
Deputy Secretary of the Interior wrongfully canedlthe Moncrief Lease without prior written
notice and an opportunity for comment, and theriplylissued that termination decision
through a press release on January 10, 2017. hMbhereby challenges that decision of the
Secretary of the Interior.

10. Defendant DOI administers the MLA, by and throughemployees and its
instrumentalities, including the BLM.

11.  Defendant Jamie Connell is the BLM State Direcfathe Montana Dakotas State
Office located in Billings, Montana. Defendant Celiris responsible for administering the
MLA in the State of Montana. Defendant Connelued in her official capacity.

LEGAL FRAMEWORK

The Mineral Leasing Act

12. The Congress enacted the MLA to encourage the olewvent of the nation’s
mineral resourcesSee Harvey v. UdalB84 F.2d 883, 885 (10th Cir. 1967) (noting thnet t
purpose of the MLA is “to promote the orderly denymhent of the oil and gas deposits in the

publicly owned lands of the United States throughgte enterprise”).
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13. To that end, the MLA authorizes the Secretary efltiterior, acting through the
BLM, to issue leases for the development of oi§ gad mineral deposits on federal lands
including in National Forests. 30 U.S.C. § 1Blguntain States Legal Found. v. Hodg68
F. Supp. 1466, 1469 (D. Wyo. 1987). A lease issurater the MLA is a real property interest
protected by the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Coutstin. See Mobil Oil Expl. & Producing
Se., Inc. v. United StateS30 U.S. 604, 609 (200Q)ynch v. United State92 U.S. 571, 579
(1934).

14.  Anoil and gas lease under the MLA grants the lealsier and the United States
reciprocal rights and obligations. A lessee olstdive right to drill for, mine, extract, remove
and dispose of oil and gas on the specified ledddbpa “primary term of 10 years,” and
continuing “so long after its primary term as ailgas is produced in paying quantities.” 30
U.S.C. § 226(e). The United States, in excharegeives royalties from the lessee of no less
than 12.5 percent “in amount or value of the préidncemoved or sold from the lessedd. §
226(b)(1)(A). The lessee must also pay an anmndél rate prior to drilling a well capable of
production. Id. 8§ 226(d).

[l The National Environmental Policy Act

15. The NEPA statute requires agencies to evaluatedhgequences of proposed
federal actions, but it does not impose substamtixéronmental protection requirements.
NEPA is an “essentially procedural” statute inteshtteensure “fully informed and well-
considered decision makingNew York v. NRG81 F.3d 471, 476 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (quotation
omitted). Agencies need only comply with NEPA the' fullest extent possible.” 42 U.S.C.

§ 4332.

16. An agency must prepare an Environmental Impace8tant (“EIS”) if it

proposes to engage in a “major federal actionjjificantly affecting the quality of the human

5
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environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C); 40 C.F.R591.4. To determine whether a proposed
action is a “major federal action” necessitatinged8, an agency may first perform an
Environmental Assessment, which is an abbreviatgddasonably thorough evaluation of the
need for the proposed project, the alternativesidened and the impacts of those alternatives.
If the proposed action will not have a significanpact on the environment, the agency issues a
“Finding of No Significant Impact (“FONSI”), and ¢hragency need not perform an EIS. 40
C.F.R. 88 1501.3, 1501.4(c). An agency need akg & “hard look” at the proposed action’s
environmental consequences, but an “agency isardt@ined by NEPA from deciding that
other values outweigh the environmental cosRdbertson v. Methow Valley Citziens Council,
490 U.S. 332, 350 (1989).

[l. National Historic Preservation Act

17.  The purpose of the National Historic Preservatiah ABNHPA”) is to
“administer federally owned, administered, or cold historic property in a spirit of
stewardship” and “provide leadership in the preagown of historic property” while fulfilling the
“social, economic and other requirements of preaadtfuture generations.” 54 U.S.C.

§ 300101. To achieve these ends, Section 106re=gain agency to “take into account the effect
of [an] undertaking on any district, site, buildisigucture, or object that is included in or ellgib
for inclusion in the National Register” of Histoitaces and afford the Advisory Council on
Historic Preservation an opportunity to comment.bS.C. § 306108.

18. Like NEPA, the NHPA is a procedural statute thagsinot dictate substantive
outcomes.See Oglala Sioux Tribe v. U.S. Army Corps of Eregm&37 F. Supp. 2d 161, 173
(D.D.C. 2008) (*‘The case law in this and othercuaits holds that an agency’s duty to act under
the NHPA is procedural in nature.” (quotitNat’l Trust for Historic Pres. v. Blangi®38 F.

Supp. 908, 925 (D.D.C. 1996j)ff'd 203 F.3d 53 (D.C. Cir. 1999))). Instead, it orgguires that

6
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an agency “stop, look, and listen” before procegdauth agency actionlllinois Commerce
Comm’nv. |.C.C 848 F.2d 1246, 1261 (D.C. Cir. 1988¢e Nat'l Parks Conservation Assoc. V.
United States177 F. Supp.3d 1 (D.D.C. 2016) (permitting mihelevelopment on National
Grasslands managed by the U.S. Forest Servicestbgath an historic district designated under
the NHPA).

V. The Administrative Procedure Act

19. The APA entitles persons harmed by final agencipadb judicial review. 5
U.S.C. 88§ 701, 704. Courts shall set aside agaotign that is:
a. Arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, threowise not in accordance with
the law;
b. Contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege,immunity;
c. In excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority lianitations, or short of statutory
right;
d. Without observance of procedure required by law.
5U.S.C. § 706(b).

V. Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006, Pub. L. N0109-432 § 403 (2006)

20.  On December 20, 2006, Congress passed Public Lawt3D, 120 Stat. 3050,
included in the law was a provision withdrawingdan Lewis and Clark National Forest from
new mineral leasingsubject to valid existing right¥he law also provided tax incentives to
encourage owners of mineral interests in the Lants Clark National Forest to voluntarily sell
their rights to certain non-profit conservationiges which would effectively preclude

development.
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

21. Lewis and Clark National Forest has been an ared ahd gas exploration
interest for decades. The Moncrief Lease itsel wace the site of active drilling, approved by
the U.S. Interior Department’s U.S. Geological &y's Conservation Division. In the early
1960s, the “Kiyo 1-A” well was spud by Phillips Rdeum and drilled without controversy to
11,500 feet, encountering the Bakken Formatioro#t B,810 and 4,662 feet.

22. Bythe 1970s, the United States was increasingjigmnteon foreign oil. To
combat this increasing dependence, the Congressgése Energy Security Act in 19&ke
President Jimmy Carter, Energy Security Act RemarkSigning S. 952 (June 30, 1980). It
provided, among other things, that:

It is the intent of the Congress that the Secretd@griculture shall process

applications for leases of National Forest Syst@ma$ and for permits to explore,

drill, and develop resources on land leased fragrFbrest Service,
notwithstanding the current status of any plan ¢p@repared . . . ."

42 U.S.C. § 8855 (1980).

23. To alleviate a backlog of oil and gas lease apptioa in the Lewis and Clark
National Forest and to comply with the 1980 Ene3ggurity Act, in 1981 the Forest Service in
consultation with BLM, the U. S. Fish and Wildli&ervice, and the U. S. Geological Survey,
prepared a 165-page Environmental Assessment I(geesing EA”) of oil and gas drilling on
non-wilderness lands in the Lewis and Clark Natidimaest, including in the Badger-Two
Medicine area, a 129,500 acre tract adjacent t@khaekfeet Indian Reservation which the
Blackfeet ceded to the United States in 1896.

24. The Forest Service’s Leasing EA considered therenmiental consequences of
oil and gas leasing in the Lewis and Clark Natidralest, with an independent evaluation of six

alternatives. As described by the Forest Servieeatternatives “range[d] from denial of all
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lease applications to leasing all lands subjeepfalications with appropriate stipulations to
protect surface resources and land uses.” EA.at Il

25.  As part of this analysis, the Forest Service aradythe environment that would
be affected should oil and gas leasing commenteeihewis and Clark National Forest, and in
particular, nearby cultural resources. To that ¢mel Forest Service “engaged in American
Indian Religious Freedom Act compliance with thadkfeet Tribe during the fall of 1979.” EA
at 28. The Forest Service acknowledged that thesFmay contain areas of spiritual
importance,” but stated that “the Blackfeet peqpiefer to identify these areas on a project-by-
project basis.” EA at 28.

26. The Forest Service’s alternatives included takiNg Action on Lease
Applications at this Time,” which “essentially .. would delay recommendation on leasing until
completion” of a Forest Plan. However, the Fo&sstvice concluded that this alternative, which
was functionally equivalent to a “No Action” altettive in that it would result in granting the oll
and gas leases at the time, was not compatibletigtigoals of the then extent Forest Service
policy. Another alternative involved leasing tleeesge without permitting surface occupancy,
which the Forest Service acknowledged would preaetivities such as oil drillingSee
Leasing EA at 31.

27.  Ultimately, however, the Forest Service chose Alive 3, which granted leases
with surface occupancy only for accessible areasdbuld be protected. When an area could
not be adequately protected, leases would be denisdued with a no-surface occupancy
stipulation. Moreover, all leases were subjedtipulations enumerated in the Appendix to the
Leasing EA, and after lease issuance any propdsaddgas activities would be fully analyzed

under NEPA. Leasing EA at 61.
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28. The Forest Service issued a Decision Notice andifgnof No Significant Impact
on February 18, 1981, approving Alternative 3. dppeal of the decision was filed.

29. OnJune 1, 1982, the BLM issued Federal Lease BR2® (subsequently
renumbered MTM-53320).e., which later became the “Moncrief Lease,” for 7,@Macres of
land in Lewis and Clark National Forest in Glagtaunty, Montana, to Mr. Randall L. Weeks.
The Moncrief Lease is located in the part of theviseand Clark National Forest sometimes
referred to as the “Badger-Two Medicine” area intma@estern Montana.

30. Pursuant to the Moncrief Lease, the Lessee hd®xotusive right and privilege
to drill for, mine, extract, remove and disposalbthe oil and gas deposits . . . in the lands
leased.” Lease Terms, 8 1. The Lease also dé&hidilae royalty amounts to be paid for
possessing the lease interest and/or producingeslease Terms, 8§ 2(d), and limited the
Government’s ability to “dispose” of the leaseddansurface or mineral rights to instances
when it would not interfere with the lessee’s rggbihder the lease. Lease Terms, § 3(c).

31. In exchange for the right to develop the properojisand gas, the Moncrief
Lease provides that the lessee will conduct itsaipmns with due regard for good land
management, will obtain the approval of the Areba@d Gas Supervisor prior to drilling on the
property, will subject its plans to environmentadbysis, and will “[e]ngage the services of a
gualified cultural resource specialist . . . todoct an intensive inventory for evidence of
cultural resources value; submit a report” on ssudbject, and “implement mitigation measures
... to preserve or avoid destruction of cultueslource values.” Lease at 5-7. The Lessee also
consented to other stipulations limiting its acdessertain parts of the subject property and
agreed to coordinate with the government to miéigaty impacts on threatened and endangered

species. Lease at 11.

10
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32. On May 24, 1982, the BLM issued a lease on 6,24&saaf land in the Lewis and
Clark National Forest to Mr. Sidney M. Longwell,calir. Longwell subsequently assigned that
lease to Solenex effective February 1, 2005 (hef@n“Solenex Lease”). The Solenex Lease is
adjacent to the Moncrief Lease.

33. On December 15, 1982, Mr. Weeks assigned the Meinceiase to Atlantic
Richfield Company (“ARCQO”) for $175,000/acre ($173300), and a 5% production payment.

34. Inthe early 1980s, the Blackfeet Nation suppodédnd gas development in the
Lewis and Clark National Forest and the Badger-Mealicine area in particular. On
December 2, 1983, the Blackfeet Nation adopted le&sn No. 94-84, which expressed support
for a joint venture between the Nation and the &o@el Corporation of Denver, Colorado, to
“explore and to develop hydro carbons in the Cesleigh Area,” which includes the Badger-Two
Medicine area.

35. In 1986, upon the completion and review of an E8,Forest Service approved a
land and resource management plan for the LewisCéandk National Forest (“Forest Service
Plan”). The Forest Service Plan explicitly conclddieat oil and gas development in the Lewis
and Clark National Forest was in the public inteegsl should continue subject to proposed
standards and stipulations necessary to mitigaténtpact of mineral development on federal
lands. By the Government’s own admission (Notic€ancellation at 4-5.), the EIS “made
leasing recommendations similar to those authoriizéde 1981 EA and Decision Notice.”

36.  Also on April 7, 1986, the Blackfeet Tribe authoretktter to Congressman Pat
Williams of Montana objecting to any attempt by faderal government to designate the
Badger-Two Medicine area as a “wilderness” undeihlderness Act of 1964, 16 U.S.C.

8 1131et seq As the Chairman of the Blackfeet Tribal Busin€sgincil explained in his letter,

11
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such designation would conflict with the Blackf@eitbe’s “oil and gas ownership” rights in the
Badger-Two Medicine area as well as the rightsothér parties in [the] area with property
rights (mineral lessees and grazing permitteeshé Blackfeet Tribal leadership expressed
concern that those property owners would “loserthperty rights without due process or just
compensation,” the exact situation unfortunatelyfmted by Moncrief today.

37. The 1986 letter from Chairman Earl Old Person efBtackfeet Nation also
described the Badger-Two Medicine area, and olgeictés characterization as a “roadless wild
area.” According to the Tribe, [t]he area is rahded those roads have been historically used
by members of the Blackfeet Tribe. Various loggaatjvities have taken place in this area in
the past, as well as grazing activities on largéspa the unit.” At no point does the Notice of
Cancellation, which refers to the Badger-Two Metkcarea as “remote,” “relatively pristine,”
and “wild,” ever take into account the Blackfeeibg's own views as described in this 1986
letter.

38. One year later, in 1987, a draft bill authored b$\Senator Melcher’s office was
shared with the Blackfeet Nation so that the Nationld comment. The draft bill provided that
the oil and gas deposits in the Badger-Two Medieirea would be subject to the Mineral
Leasing Act of 1920, as amended, 30 U.S.C. 8et&kqgand further stated that 50% of the
revenues from oil and gas leasing would be allattie¢he Blackfeet Nation, while 50% would
go to the State of Montana. The bill also provitteat “all oil and gas leases issued within the
Badger-Two Medicine area, and which are in effecthee date of enactment of this Act shall
continue in full force and effect.” In a lettertdd June 23, 1987, by Chairman Earl Old Person

to Senator Melcher, the Blackfeet Nation’s only coemt on this proposal as related to federal

12
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oil and gas leasing and development in the BadgerMedicine area was they would “prefer
that the bill state that 100 per-centum of the nesss be paid to the Tribe.”

39. Moncrief acquired the Moncrief Lease from ARCO Yatuable consideration on
January 1, 1989, after BLM had twice conducted mmmental analyses and approved of oil and
gas development in Lewis and Clark National Forest.

40. DOl suspended the Moncrief Lease on May 1, 1988.Nibncrief Lease
suspension was lifted on January 29, 1993, butanaly 30, 1993, DOl immediately reinstated
the suspension, which remained in effect thougtpthvported termination of the Moncrief Lease
on January 6, 2017.

41. In 1983, Solenex’s predecessor in interest assigmetease to a consortium of
companies (America Petrofina, Petrofina Delaware,, land AGIP Petroleum Company, Inc.,
collectively “Fina”) for the purpose of drilling aitie Solenex Lease. Fina submitted a surface
use plan and an Application for Permit to Drill @B”) an exploratory well on the property.
Although BLM and the Forest Service issued a 32fed@A and approved the surface plan and
APD, the Interior Board of Land Appeals subsequeveicated the BLM’s decision and
remanded for additional consideration.

42. In 1988, after additional years of consideratitve, Forest Service combined the
analysis of Fina’s APD with an APD submitted by @to® on a nearby lease. In 1990, upon
review of a 982-page EIS evaluating the potentigdacts of the APDs, the Forest Service and
BLM issued a joint Record of Decision approving&ssurface plan and APD.

43. However, the BLM subsequently reconsidered itssieciand decided to perform
an independent evaluation of the APD’s impactseAdbncluding its analysis, BLM sought

secretarial-level approval of the APD. In early 39%he Assistant Secretary of the Department

13
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of Interior concurred with BLM’s Record of Decisiapproving Fina’s APD. Notably, the
Assistant Secretary concluded that the lease wéneipublic interest and validly issued. While
the Assistant Secretary acknowledged that the BatiNation used the surrounding area for
religious purposes, it was unable to identify aggécific potential effects caused by the project
to the practice and belief in [the Blackfeet Natraditional religion.” 1993 Record of
Decision at 15-16.

44. In 1997, the BLM and Forest Service jointly relehfiee Lewis and Clark
National Forest Oil and Gas Environmental Impaet&hent. The EIS closed over 350,000
acres of property in Lewis and Clark National Foteshew oil and gas leasing, but it did not
terminate the rights of existing oil and gas lelhsklers such as Moncrief.

45. In 2001, the Secretary of DOI withdrew 405,000 a@tland from entry under
the Mining Laws, 30 U.S.C. 8§ 22 seq The withdrawal was subject to valid existinghitgy and
did not impact the Moncrief Lease.

46. In June 2003, the Forest Service initiated a ptesonstruct and install a new
12-inch gas pipeline across three miles of the kead Clark National Forest, including about
two miles of the National Forest land which wasjsabto the Solenex Lease. The Forest
Service conducted an Environmental Assessmentsso@d a Finding of No Significant Impact
(“FONSI”) in 2004, concluding that under the NHR#etpipeline “w[ould] not have an adverse
effect on any known or listed or eligible histoplaces.” The Forest Service’s 2004
Environmental Assessment found that 70 to 100dé#te National Forest lands would be
completely cleared along the three-mile pipelimggth. The Forest Service also consulted with
the Blackfeet Tribe, but “identified no propertigstraditional cultural interest to the tribe oreth

pipeline route or temporary construction sites.”

14
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47.  Significantly, the pipeline is only one of seveealsting man-made disturbances
located near or within the Moncrief Lease, inclygdanU.S. Highway, Route 2, a portion of the
Burlington Northern railroad, an active communicasi tower, access roads, and another
pipeline. Despite the presence of these otheurthahces, the Moncrief Lease now has been
singled out by DOI as unacceptably interfering wiith Blackfeet Nation’s interests in
traditional cultural resources associated witheHhesleral lands in the Lewis and Clark National
Forest.

48.  On December 20, 2006, Congress withdrew the BatigerMedicine area from
further oil and gas leasingeeTax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006, Pub. L.-4132, § 403,
120 Stat. 3050. Notably, Congress made the wittaraubject to valid existing rights, such as
the Moncrief Lease. It did not compel the relintpumnent of existing oil and gas lease interests as
the Notice of Cancellation implied, and in factyided lessees and others with mineral interests
with theoptionto sell their interests in exchange for favorabbetteatment. Moncrief chose to
retain the Moncrief Lease.

49.  Around this same time, in 2002, the Keeper of th#éidhal Register of Historic
Places evaluated whether to list part of the Badgey Medicine area as a “traditional cultural
district” of the Blackfeet Tribe.

50. In 2002, it determined that 89,000 acres of theggad wo Medicine area was
eligible for listing as a traditional cultural dist in the National Register of Historic Places.

The Forest Service then initiated the NHPA Sectidf consultation process with tribal
representatives of the Blackfeet Tribe to determwhat impacts Solenex’s proposed oil and gas

well would have on the area.

15
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51.  Atfter further consultation with the Blackfeet Trildbe Forest Serviced expanded
the boundary of the traditional cultural district2014 to include a total of 165,588 acres, which
included the three-mile area in the Lewis and Chéakional Forest where the Forest Service had
approved in 2004 the new 12-inch gas pipeline, wvbiz 2014 had been constructed and
installed.

52.  Contemporaneous with that decision, the Foresti&eengaged in consultation
on the Application for Permit to Drill (“APD”) fothe Solenex Lease. In late 2014, the Forest
Service issued a determination of adverse effeadgithe NHPA, concluding that no form of
mitigating impacts from drilling on the Solenex kseacould be accommodated with the
Blackfeet Tribe’s interests.

53. Despite on-going consultation efforts, the BlackfBgbe terminated consultation
efforts under Section 106 in July 2015.

54.  Upon review of the Solenex Lease, the Advisory @dwn Historic Preservation
determined that the newly identified Badger-Two Maee traditional cultural district is “one of
the most cultural and religiously significant aréashe Blackfeet People since time
immemorial” and that “no mitigation measures woattdhieve an acceptable balance between
historic preservation concerns and [oil and gasgtipment.” As a result, it recommended in
late 2015 that DOI and the Forest Service caneebtienex Lease and “further recommends
that the Secretary of the Interior, working witle tBecretary of Agriculture, take the steps
necessary to terminate the remaining leasesin thie newly defined traditional cultural district.

55. On March 17, 2016, the Interior Department canc#tedSolenex Lease in

substantial reliance on the Advisory Council’sdett

16
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56. On November 17, 2016, Donato J. Judice with the Biaied Moncrief and
informed the company that BLM may be about to chtiteeMoncrief Lease. Moncrief was
provided with no written notice of the purportedisaor the potential lease cancellation.

57. On December 15, 2016, Harry Barnes, Chairman oBtaekfeet Tribal Business
Council, authored a letter to Moncrief stating Thioe’s opposition to the development of oll
and gas resources on the Moncrief Lease propéttyvever, the Tribe’s letter stated that it
remained open to oil and gas developnwnthe Tribe’s propertywhich is directly adjacent to
the Badger Two-Medicine area, and indeed offerdtetp Moncrief to obtain “an alternative site
to explore and to drill for oil and gas reservestmnBlackfeet Reservation” itself.

58. OnJanuary 6, 2017, DOI apparently signed a lditersion to Moncrief
administratively cancelling the Moncrief Leasehaligh it was not publicly issued until January
10, 2017, when DOI issued a press release on thectuThe Notice of Cancellation relied
heavily on the Advisory Council’'s determinationtize Badger-Two Medicine area could not
be developed without purportedly harming the BlaekfNation’s interest in the land. The
Notice of Cancellation nowhere addresses the Bégatkflation’s history of promoting oil and
gas development on these same National Forest |aftdsletter decision was signed by Jamie
E. Connell, State Director of the Montana Dakot&&® for the BLM, and by Michael L.
Connor, the Deputy Secretary of the Departmenh@fiterior.

59. On March 17, 2017, Moncrief submitted a PetitionReconsideration of the
Moncrief Federal Oil and Gas Lease Terminatiorhtortew U.S. Secretary of the Interior, Ryan
Zinke, and this petition was received by the Secyés office on March 20, 2017. No further

action has been taken to the present date regatusighatter by Interior Secretary Zinke.
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

Claim I: The Secretary Lacked the Authority to Administratively Cancel the Moncrief
Lease

60. Moncrief re-alleges and incorporates by refereiicesllegations of the
preceding paragraphs.

61. An agency may only act pursuant to authority deksdj¢o it by CongresSee
Louisiana Pub. Serv. Comm’n v. FC&76 U.S. 355, 374 (1986).

62. The MLA enumerates specified limited grounds updvicty the Secretary of the
Interior may administratively cancel an oil and ¢gese. The Secretary may only cancel a lease
absent a judicial proceeding if after 30 days’ cmtia lessee breaches the terms of the lease and
the lease does not contain a well capable of comiaigaroduction or the lease is committed to
an approved cooperative or unit plan or communitrnaagreement . . . which contains a well
capable of production. . ..” 30 U.S.C. § 188(bherwise, the Secretary of the Interior may
only cancel a lease through a judicial proceedifge30 U.S.C. § 188(a) (“any lease issued
under the provisions of this chapter may be foetikdnd canceled by an appropriate proceeding
in the United States district court for the digtiicwhich the property, or some part thereof, is
located”).

63.  Moncrief has never violated the terms of the Maogifckiease, nor is there any
allegation by DOI of a violation by the lesseehie Notice of Cancellation.

64. DOI did not institute a judicial proceeding pursum30 U.S.C. § 188(a) prior to
cancelling the Moncrief Lease.

65. To the extent the Secretary of the Interior mayehalied on 43 C.F.R.

§ 3108.3(d) for its authority to cancel the Monttiease administratively, that provision

provides no authority to cancel an oil and gasdd®sadministrative action in these

18



Case 1:17-cv-00609-RJL Document 1 Filed 04/05/17 Page 19 of 24

circumstances. As such, the Secretary exceedsthttgory authority, and its cancellation of the
Lease was unlawful.

Claim Il: The Notice of Cancellation is Unlawful Because it Fails to Account for
Moncrief's Bona Fide Purchaser Protections

66. Moncrief re-alleges and incorporates by refereticesllegations of the
preceding paragraphs.

67. Even if the Secretary retains that authority to mustratively cancel a lease,
which Moncrief disputes, the Secretary nonethdigtsd to abide by the MLA and its
implementing regulations, which preclude the Secyetrom cancelling the lease of a bona fide
purchaser. 30 U.S.C. § 184(h)(2); 43 C.F.R. § 3108

68. A bona fide purchaser is one who obtains an inténgsroperty in good faith and
for valuable consideration without any awarenesangfalleged deficiency in the grantor’s title.

69.  Moncrief obtained its interest in the Moncrief Ledsom ARCO paying valuable
consideration on January 1, 1989. Prior to thattp8LM had twice conducted environmental
analyses under NEPA and concluded that leasingopiepty in the Lewis and Clark National
Forest was permissible. Moncrief had no awareragghge time it acquired the Moncrief Lease
in 1989, of the deficiency which the DOI now religon. Indeed, the Government did not
decide that such deficiency existed until 2017,a8n85 years after it leased the subject
property. From 1989 to January 2017, Moncriefplased substantial reliance on DOI’s
issuance of the Moncrief Lease and has conducteldgjeal assessments of the leasehold area
and evaluated oil and gas exploration plans toldpwhe area.

70.  The fact that the Moncrief Lease was suspendedrastmatively at the time
Moncrief obtained an interest in the subject propdoes not deprive Moncrief of bona fide

purchaser protection. The lease suspension dignpatct Moncrief’s title to the subject
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property, and there is no allegation that there avaloud on the title when ARCO purchased the
subject property.

71. Because DOI cancelled the Moncrief Lease witholarding it bona fide
purchaser protection, the Notice of Cancellatios abitrary, capricious, or otherwise not in
accord with the law. 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

Claim IlI: DOI's Cancellation of the Moncrief Lease is Arbitrary and Capricious in
Violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A)

72.  Moncrief re-alleges and incorporates by refereheeatlegations of the preceding
paragraphs.

73. DOI's cancellation of the Moncrief Lease (No. MTN8&0) was arbitrary,
capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwigadmaccordance with the law for the following
reasons:

a. DOl failed to provide any advance written noticeMoncrief of its intent to
terminate the Lease;

b. DOI and the ACHP decision it relies upon expresgeawareness of the
Blackfeet Nation’s prior support for oil and gasei®pment in the Badger-
Two Medicine area;

c. DOl's cancellation of the Moncrief Lease by presiease on January 10,
2017, demonstrates that the agency was improp#tlyenced by political
influences to the exclusion of sound historicalestfic, technical, and legal
analysis.

d. DOI's decision was issued in an irregular manner precluded standard

administrative review procedures by the InterioaBbof Land Appeals.
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e. DOI impermissibly ignored environmental assessmantsimpact statements
issued since 1982 that showed oil and gas leaagggell as other
development, in the Badger-Two Medicine area wawdunduly harm the
legitimate interests of the Blackfeet Nation.

f. DOl ignored the fact that Moncrief spent time anohey both purchasing the
Lease and assessing the Lease’s potential fondibas development in
reliance on DOI's 1982 determination that oil ard ¢easing was permitted
in Lewis and Clark National Forest.

Therefore, DOI's decision should be declared t6umawful and set aside” as “arbitrary,
capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwigamaccordance with law.” 5 U.S.C.
§ 706(2)(A).

Claim IV: DOI's Cancellation of the Moncrief Lease Deprived Moncrief of Procedural Due
Process

74.  Moncrief realleges and incorporates by refereneeaatlegations of the preceding
paragraphs.

75.  The Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution pr@sdhat parties must be
afforded due process of law prior to being depaktheir property.

76.  Anoil and gas lease constitutes a protected reglgoty interest under the Fifth
Amendment.

77. DOl failed to provide Moncrief with any advance tten notice of the purported
grounds for the lease termination, and failed tavjgle an opportunity for a hearing.

78. DOl failed to meaningfully consult with Moncrief abt the Moncrief Lease at
any time in the last several years. In Novembéi62®oncrief received a brief phone call from

a BLM representative stating that the Moncrief leeass or may be about to be terminated.
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Moncrief was not provided with the basis for thmpending decision and was unable to
meaningfully respond. Moncrief was never providedten notice of the impending lease
cancellation.

79. OnJanuary 10, 2017, DOI issued the January 6, R@tice of Cancellation
terminating the Moncrief Lease. Because the datigias made by the Office of the Secretary
at DOI, and not merely the BLM, Moncrief is barifeoim administratively appealing the
termination to the Interior Board of Land Appeatslar 43 C.F.R. Part 4, leaving the company
with little or no ability to supplement the admitnegive record with pertinent information that
DOl failed to consider in making its determination.

80. DOI’s cancellation of the Moncrief Lease withoutittan notice, without an
opportunity to respond, and without an opportutotappeal prejudiced Moncrief and deprived
it of the due process to which it is entitled.

Claim V: DOI's Administrative Action was Time-Barre d Under 28 U.S.C. § 2462 and the
Doctrine of Laches

81. Moncrief realleges and incorporates by refereneeatlegations of the preceding
paragraphs.

82. Under 28 U.S.C. § 2462 the Government must commangection or
proceeding for forfeiturgvithin five years from the date when the claimtfascrued.

83.  Similarly, the doctrine of laches “bars relief tkimse who delay assertion of their
claims for an unreasonable timaNAACP v. NAACP Legal Def. and Ed. Fu@83 F.2d 131,
137 (D.C. Cir. 1985).

84. The BLM issued the Lease in 1982 on the basis dAanMoncrief relied on the
BLM'’s lease issuance in deciding to purchase treskaen 1989 for valuable consideration. DOI

cancelled the Lease in January 2017 on the groimadishe 1981 EA was inadequate.
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85. DOI’s attempt to remediate the alleged error inE#eby cancelling the Lease
over 30 years later is barred both under 28 U.8 22162 because the basis for the lease
termination occurred significantly more than fiveays ago, and under the doctrine of laches
because the government’s decades-long delay wassomable and prejudiced Moncrief.

86. The Moncrief Lease cancellation should thereforedieaside as unlawful.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Moncrief respectfully requests that ®baurt:

a. declare that cancellation of the Moncrief Lease waawful because DOI’s decision
was in excess of its statutory, inherent, and @guy authority;

b. declare that cancellation of the Moncrief Lease waawful because Moncrief is
entitled to bona fide purchaser protection;

c. declare that the cancellation of the Moncrief Leaas arbitrary, capricious, an abuse
of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance Wath; contrary to constitutional right,
power, privilege, or immunity; in excess of statytpurisdiction, authority, or
limitations, or short of statutory right; and/oritlout observance of procedure
required by law;

d. declare that the cancellation of the Moncrief Leaghout written notice to Moncrief
or providing Moncrief an opportunity to respondlaied the Due Process Clause of
the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution;

e. declare that the cancellation of the Moncrief Leaas time-barred by 28 U.S.C.

§ 2462 and the doctrine of laches;
f. set aside the decision challenged herein and teridants be ordered to reinstate

the Moncrief Lease;
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g. that Moncrief be awarded costs and attorneys’ ie@scordance with the law.

h. and that Moncrief be awarded such further reliethé&s Court deems appropriate.

Dated: April 5, 2017

Respectfully submitted,

/s/R. Timothy McCrum

R. Timothy McCrum (D.C. Bar #389061)
Tyler A. O’'Connor (D.C. Bar #1035160)
Crowell & Moring LLP

1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20004

Tel: (202) 624-2500
rmccrum@crowell.com
toconnor@crowell.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff W.A. Moncrief, Jr.
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